<u>Poetry South</u>

2023





Poetry South

Issue 15 2023



Poetry South

Editor	Kendall Dunkelberg
Assistant Editors	Rebecca Anderson Christian Collier Brooke Sandlin
Contributing Editors	Angela Ball Carolyn Elkins Ted Haddin Jianqing Zheng

Poetry South is an international journal of poetry published annually by Mississippi University for Women. The views expressed herein, except for editorials, are those of the writers, not the editors or Mississippi University for Women.

Poetry South considers submissions year round. Submissions received after the annual deadline of July 15 will be considered for the following year, with reading beginning in January. No previously published material will be accepted. *Poetry South* is not responsible for unsolicited submissions and their loss. Submissions are accepted through Submittable: poetrysouth.submittable.com.

Subscription rates are \$10 for one year, \$18 for two years; the foreign rate is \$20 for one year, \$38 for two years. All rights revert to the authors after publication. We request *Poetry South* be credited with initial publication. Queries or other correspondence may be emailed to: poetrysouth01@gmail.com. Queries and subscriptions sent by mail may be addressed to: *Poetry South*, MFA Creative Writing, 1100 College St., W-1634, Columbus MS 39701.

ISSN 1947-4075 (Print) ISSN 2476-0749 (Online)

Copyright © 2023 Mississippi University for Women

Indexed by EBSCOHost/Literary Reference Center

Member CLMP

CONTENTS

Denton Loving

Kaecey McCormick

- Tohm Bakelas Michael Romary
- Jianqing Zheng
- -----8

Rob Vance Marcus Whalbring

Josh Nicolaisen

Annalise Mabe

- Patricia L. Hamilton
- Rosa Castellano

Mark Smith-Soto

- Whitney Koo
- Brian Jacobs
- Kate Polak
- Court Ludwick

Debra Kaufman

Kathryn Thurber-Smith Paula Reed Nancarrow Mariah M. Friend

- Liam Strong
- RC deWinter

Theresa Monteiro Meredith Macleod Davidson Jeff Hardin

- Hallie Fogarty
- Ace Boggess

Barbara Westwood Diehl

- 6 Bluebird Dreams of Red Fox
- 7 Bluebird Dreams Red Fox Has Wings
- 8 Morning fog rising
- 10 casual witness
- 11 Dawn
- 12 Mindful Life
- 13 The Work Song
- 14 Spectators on a Country Road
- 15 Where Birds Come From
- 16 Ode to Trees Making Me Hungry for Living
- 18 Field Notes from the Bottom of a Lake
- 19 Eve, Awakened
- 20 A Girl the Color of a Hayfield Straddles the Fence Between Two Yards
- 21 Nothing Else
- 22 Anniversary
- 24 Ophelia in the Swanning
- 25 rainbow assassins
- 26 Weeds
- 27 How to Survive a Collapsing
- 28 After centuries of grief, the women in black
- 29 If I could
- 30 The Woman Who Had No Shadow
- 31 Falta
- 32 after-party at Spider Lake & the last Stay Fast hometown show
- 33 naturalizing
- 34 Kyphosis
- 35 BeSotted
- 36 A Poem is a Way of Practicing A Sermon
- 37 Catechism
- 38 Life Indoors
- 39 Holding My Phone Above My Head and Recording with the Bird ID App

John A. Nieves	4
Jeff William Acosta	4
Holly Cian	4
	2
Jon Parrish Peede	4
Jason Gordy Walker	4
Suboli Gordy Walker	
Fasasi Abdulrosheed Oladipupo	4
Natan Last	
Matthew Merson	
Sabrina Ito	
Wren Donovan	
Tammy Greenwood	
Vaughn Hayes	
luna rey hall	
Jane Rosenberg LaForge	(
Amanda Roth	(
Arianna Moulton	(
Marisa P. Clark	(
Lyndsey Kelly Weiner	
Lyndsey Kenry Wenner	
Claire Scott	(
Jessica Conley	(
Emily Adams-Aucoin	(
Linda Hughes	'
	'
John Maaganan	,
John Moessner	,
Jennifer Raha Newhouse	,
Esther Sadoff	
Natalie Pelino	,
	'
Andrea Menendez	, ,
Jim Tilley	í
ли тису	

- 40 Postbang
- 41 2022, Baguio City
- 42 Dear Weeju
- 44 A Day at the Museum
- 45 Your Cellar
- 46 Metafiction at Sardis Lake, Mississippi
- 47 A House Repaired
- 48 Greeting Charles Henri Ford at
- Rose Hill Cemetery 49
 - After the Chaos
- 50 Slight of Hand
- 52 She Like A Fish
- Marriage Contract 54
- 55 Next Track: Love in Vain
- 56 Assemblage
- Always Perfectly Nice 57
- 58 20th Century Nudity
- megafauna 59
- 60 Fireproofing
- 61 How to Cook a Wolf
- 62 When I Was Four
- 63 The Therapist Asks Why I'm Reading a Biography of Sylvia Plath
- 64 my son turns 10
- 65 the man who built my house
- 66 Scheherazade at the Doctor's
- 67 The Amniocentesis
- 68 Cross Section
- 70 Those Stars on Your Nightgown
- 72 We Stop by the Lake Where You Proposed
- 73 Death is Never Far
- 74 Hereafter
- 75 I don't know in what key my mother hungers
- 76 Recitation
- 77 This Time
- 78 The Inheritance
- 79 Instructions for a Funeral
- 80 **Channeling Plato**

- Jim Tilley
- Ellen June Wright
- Cecilia Savala
- Angelica Whitehorne

Mads Gordon

Paula M. Rodriguez

Allen Kenneth Schaidle Nancy R. Yang

- Ceci Webb
- Lauren Peat
- Mitzi Dorton
- Marianne Kunkel
- Christopher Ankney
- Aaron Caycedo-Kimura
- Ellery Beck
- Bruce Robinson
- Anthony DiMatteo
- Hari Parisi
- Jessa Queyrouze
- Jeff Schiff

Contributors Notes

- 81 And Still the Earth Is Shaking
- 82 Of Ordinary Men and Ministers
- 83 Be Good
- An Eight-Year-Old Boy Dies Crossing the Rio Grande River as Ted Cruz's Daughters Fly to Cancun to Escape the Texas Storm
- 86 Guilty Pleasure
- 87 I Spent Sixteen Soul Winning in Juneau
- 88 Luvian
- 90 Gira, mondo, gira!
- 91 Pour Milk Over My Body
- 92 Road Trip Home
- 93 Lines Written In Early Spring (var.)
- 94 Crossing New Mexico as Hecate
- 95 Freight Train
- 96 Cooking Cherries
- 97 Ode to Food Storage
- 98 Interstitial Spaces
- 99 In the Wake
- 100 Places I'm searching for
- 101 Lunar
- 102 Late Passage
- 103 In Sight of the Pacific
- 104 Buck Moon
- 105 They reluctant wards of OSHA
- 106

BLUEBIRD DREAMS OF RED FOX

And then as the eastern sky colors like the skin of an over-ripened peach, you appear—as if I conjured you pirouetting under my hemlock perch with your death-kiss-is-beautiful kind of allure—gangly, untamable, too proud and then you belly-creep home. I know about your fatal fox magic, how you open doors to new worlds, how you lure hunters to fall in love with you. Could you confound a bluebird, too, charming me with your dance, pretending you can't hear me when I'm singing your name?

BLUEBIRD DREAMS RED FOX HAS WINGS

I followed your tracks and flew back in time to the mountain where the Maker mined red clay to shape you. I watched him kiss life into your lips, and I prayed to be refashioned like you with legs that glide like fire. When the Maker refused my plea, I begged instead to release the bloodred cardinal that beats inside your chest your fur burned into feathers so instead of always running ahead, you could wing alongside me.

Kaecey McCormick

MORNING FOG RISING

This morning I rose still asleep and drifted into the hills where the fog, thick and ghostly, towered above the mountains and valley keeping silent watch.

It smothered my footfalls the way a mute alters a horn covered the mountains, an indigo and gray blanket blanching the light.

It held the earth's exhales close, warming the air like a moist breath and when I opened my mouth, the taste of dirt and worms and rotting logs rushed in, irresistible and divine.

I lay down on the dead leaves gathered in the windy spot and dreamed myself awake until the fog parted and the morning sky, smudged in its pinks and blues and oranges and greens, danced with birds greeting the sun once again.

I watched the day move closer to its end and when the curtain fell and the only light shone through pinholes torn in the fabric of night by suns expiring eons before my first breath, I rose again and washed my face in the cold creek and dried my skin with the mountain air and thought of you.

As the fog rolled in to cover me again, I contemplated staying on the leafy counterpane, to let my body root and flower, to give myself back to the earth, to become something more by becoming something less. Instead, I gathered the moss around me like a cloak and planted poppies in my brain and let the creek run through my veins and carry me home.

Tohm Bakelas

CASUAL WITNESS

picture this: it is early morning, south of somewhere familiar, south of somewhere you call home

there are power lines running down dirt roads where the dust seems to never settle until it rains

there are grey birds flying skyward towards destinations you will never reach

and you are there, driving alone in a car, a casual witness to this which you'll never understand...

but you are not there. you are here with me, with these words on this page and we have only each other and the oncoming autumn Michael Romary

Dawn

The stars have gone. Those I saw last will come back again, and at some time, I

Will see new ones now being born that will show themselves, to the I I am not, eons

From now, though not the I I am now. For even now, Orion's shoulder,

Star Betelgeuse, once was recorded yellow, shining, now is shining as red.

Thousands of years from now it will become a supernova, black hole or a neutron

Star. Then something else. All perishes. Something will return. Not to worry in now.

Jianqing Zheng

MINDFUL LIFE

for Theodore Haddin in celebration of his 90th birthday

It sings like a robin welcoming spring,

sounds like a finger snap after composing a poem,

delights like a violin playing Brahms,

rises like a pink moon shining budding trees,

leaps like a dolphin enjoying the sea,

sits like a thinker on the essence

of existence that mind is no mind,

name is no name, star is no star, and

space is no space but Way reaching far.

THE WORK SONG

After Eudora Welty's Chopping in the Field

Chop sunrise into sharecroppers' loud yawn

chop sweat into cotton seeds to grow hope

chop days into vast fields row after row

chop pains into downpours to saturate the dry land

chop sunset into cow dung to fertilize hardships

chop dream into stars to twinkle in the night sky

chop sunup chop sundown chop chop chop chop

Spectators on a Country Road

In those hours owls cease talking, a rusting hinge of crickets calls to me. No streetlamps or porch lights line this rural path. Under the glow of a small headlamp, I run. In a country of darkness, I follow a small circle flickering like firelight on the ground. No choice offered the path WELL traveled requires stronger knees than my own. Slopes are steeper in the city and maybe the sky is raised higher to accommodate those crowds of climbers. Not for me. I wind through fallow fields, grain stalks parting. Each morning, my audience gathers, round glimmers of light floating just above tall grass. As I draw near, pairs will turn, stamping or snorting, revealing comet-white tails raised. My faint lamp reflects in doe eyes, like autumn starlight illuminating the world with what is already gone.

Marcus Whalbring

WHERE BIRDS COME FROM

There's a door in the forest floor that opens every thirty-seven hours. No one knows who turns the knob. But when it opens, they come burning out, literally burning, you can smell the smoke from miles away. You didn't know a sky is happening underground, that birds began as stars in it. Each one you see still feels the pull of all the planets that once turned within its reach before it started burning out. Then it came falling through like the others, shaking flames out of its feathers as it landed in the nearest empty branch. Think about it, have you ever seen a star at rest? No, it's always open like an eye sitting in its nest of void, waiting for the moment it can start to fade and float through and taste the dew from blossoms for the first time, lav its planet-shaped offspring in a bed of grasses in spring, look up to see what clouds look like from below, and to learn the flag-like choreography that lets it call the air its vacation home as it sings a star-sized song through its keyhole of a mouth.

Josh Nicolaisen

ODE TO TREES MAKING ME HUNGRY FOR LIVING

once I sniffed rich compost birthing lushness in someone else's garden and I gagged on the desire to grow something for myself

I squeeze dreams my children and me link our arms around a trunk we could never hug alone

there are words that fill me with so much of something they command all of my hairs to stand staccato

water transforming into ice, that stiffening sprung from a lover's touch

ice melting again in spring, listening to a cute dog barking at a scurrying chipmunk in the park a plant titillated into perk

by the first drops in oh so many days or the heavy knock on the roof on a day I want nothing

to do, a snowy path carved in the forest after waking to a chorus of pine siskins singing a powdery song I longed to join

the hot boiling of sap the sweet amber juice it produces a warm waffle soaked in maple syrup

a quick whiff of that green flower burning, a j being shared high on a chair or beneath the subway somewhere I'm low I saw a savant speak and my stomach wept like ladies mantle, yellow and pouring out like smoke

I watched it waft out an open window saw dogwoods adorned in orgasmic faces as big as dinner plates, lips open a low moan intoned from stretching bark.

Annalise Mabe

FIELD NOTES FROM THE BOTTOM OF A LAKE

I was a girl— which meant I was for the taking,	
one for the books, hooks wormed in my heart	peat moss daughter of drudgery,
lifted up from beneath lake water tannins and the decay	of dried leaves
falling, always	
to that bottom where alligator eyes, afraid where they are more scared	watch for little feet
of me, summer hymn sing me down to that bottom	
of sunken flowers, of floating skulls last me a little longer	of pine rot and two-toned bass let me stretch
a girlhood where I might even forget I was a girl	

Patricia L. Hamilton

EVE, AWAKENED

After Marc Chagall's "Paradise I (Tree of Knowledge)"

I cannot explain how
-
your night-silvered skin is my skin
sheltered by leafy boughs
above your soft, steady breaths
as if of angels' wings

Rosa Castellano

A GIRL THE COLOR OF A HAYFIELD STRADDLES THE FENCE BETWEEN TWO YARDS

Just out of reach of the loose dog trotting through the back yard,

with a chicken—neck broke and dangling from his mouth.

I grasp the chain-link fence with both hands, the scab

on my knee broke open, weeping red as the dog lays the bird

at my feet. This dog who every time I step outside—

barks, jumps, strains violently against the rope, as though

all he wants in the world is to bite.

On the ground the bird's mouth is open, her feathers' pulse

with his panting, till he inclines his head toward me, as though,

all this time, he's only been trying to say, hello.

NOTHING ELSE

I scramble out of bed: what was that sound? A burglar prying open the back door, or out in the garden making the rounds of the house in a chill dark softening for

spring? I peek outside. The almost pink garage glows like a ship in mist. Tall tulips stand guard along the drive. No one. Nothing disrespects the midnight emptiness. I pull

up the blinds, stand in the kitchen—deeply awake. Poetry doesn't have a prayer if not this moment when my lover lies safe asleep and silence is the moonlight's only thought.

I grab a pen, a pad, sit to write these words. Nothing else happening except the universe.

ANNIVERSARY

I hardly gave a thought to what they meant: Barbed wire, you said once, with a grin that broke across your face like an accident as you pulled down your sleeves on a forbidden theme. Which was okay with me. I was bent on brighter things, could barely fit in my skin for wanting it pressed against another body. Not that you were just any body, not anybody

would do— I wasn't that blind even then. I found you charming, smart, that kind of thing, and it was clear that when it came to men, you knew better than most what you were doing. Still, of us, maybe you were the innocent, I the merely virginal, in want of a fling. How you have grown, with each distancing year, into a presence intricately near.

Which makes regret look foolish, moot. Wrong-headed, if it meant wishing away the sophomoric impulse and pursuit that led me to throw myself in your way. Knowing you was something totally good, for me, at least. For you I cannot say. Did you count on my not taking to heart the pain that must have been there from the start?

You called yourself madcap, a drama queen. Disarming, to hear the echo of my thought, which let me ignore without feeling mean the wounded soul in the body I sought. One thing does hurt, to think you might have been looking for more from me. How I hope not, hope you saw me as I was and liked me so, and weren't very sad to see me go. Not long after, thirty years now to the day, you'd had enough of yourself. The young man on the phone, half-choking on what he had to say, thought I'd want to know. And I felt newly alone hearing your name again in that new way. The scars came back to me then, how they shone pale on the pallor of your skin, and to my sight, all but invisible in the morning light.

Ophelia in the Swanning

Say she stepped out of life one leg at a time. Say she crashed the handset down after a series of inquiries the caller had no right to. Say what you want, I had a friend in Colorado who set off one morning on a hike to mark the start of starting over—missed a step and died. He wasn't even trying. And she the same, could only commit to starting. And what's commitment but an attempt to expand time; a finger gently tapping around the edges of your lipstick to soften your mouth. As if it were the point of a lesson in an art class on figure drawing in which the professor has something to note here on curvature but pauses too long at the miracle.

Brian Jacobs

RAINBOW ASSASSINS

I never wanted a home nor a Lotus Sutra

I am not a lotus eater I'm a rapture of rainbow assassins

the loss of formalism I am a complex ask of fantast's accretion

floating in language soundfacts

Kate Polak

WEEDS

Life loves a weed, or maybe, weeds love life more than most of us are used to. To cling to this with no softness: thistles, brambles, things that stick and hurt-things that stay painful in the skin but live. The blue ball of the thistle is the best I can hope of what love really is: it hurts if you touch it wrong. It's what we are: gorgeous, but hard to hold. It lives, in spite of no water in the jar I carelessly set on the counter a week ago. It will hurt you, yes, but will you look at it? The absolute astonishment of possible pains? The strange spike of longing against whatever's plain?

Court Ludwick

How to Survive a Collapsing

Keep the ____ outside of your body. (do not open your mouth when they say *calm down*)

And close your _____ because they say so, because

they say a six-year-old was swallowed here and there are certain things people shouldn't see.

Do not _____ what's unstable. (do not remember you are too)

Let people know ____ you are. You are no sandfish—you do not possess

the ability to retract yourself when _____ creeps in, easy as anything.

Debra Kaufman

AFTER CENTURIES OF GRIEF, THE WOMEN IN BLACK

still bring cakes and casseroles to your home, help arrange the ceremonial flowers, hold the hands of the grieving in their own.

Because they are ancient and have borne many deaths, they themselves are beyond wails and tears, beyond tearing

their garments, bathing their heads with dust, beyond having to tell children terrible stories

of wolves at the door and blood-stained floors, where to find the nearest cupboard to hide in,

they are beyond their own bodies, they are crows mobbing any intruder, crones with mysterious spells, harpies crouching

on the lawns of those who refuse to see how mourners must endure.

Behold their fierce claws and haggard faces. See them spread wide their tattered wings wild in the wind that made us.

Kathryn Thurber-Smith

If I could

after Susan Rich

if I could, i would bring back your goldenrod cardigan with pockets of agates and cigarettes

dance with you at st columba's church on industrial tile and dust

if I could, I would add forgotten flour to your brownies break up egg yolks with a wooden spoon

remind you to turn off the oven after rosemary and potatoes are roasted

if I could, i wouldn't pinch you in the arm leave an imprint of my thumb

run from you barefooted through broken glass and spilt trash

if I could, I would watch you thread your needle sew a straight seam sow a row of peas

if I could, I would hold your elbow on beach stairs Not just because you might lose your balance

if I could, I wouldn't wait for faltering footholds or missteps in a recipe to befuddle you

if I could, I would plant snapdragons and hope and moon-sparkled zephyrs would blow you back to me

Paula Reed Nancarrow

THE WOMAN WHO HAD NO SHADOW

Aarne-Thompson-Uther type 755, Redemption and Forgiveness.

Why must the correct answer always be *Be it done to me according to Thy will*?

In the folk tale a pastor's wife seeks remedies from a witch in the woods & is given them.

Stones tossed into a well. Her shadow following after.

Thereafter no shadow. No children.

*

In the folk tale it takes death and a miracle

for the pastor to forgive his wife to conceive at least of a God who might.

On the slate roof of the parsonage wildflowers are blooming.

At the bottom of a well the shadows of dead women nurse stones.

Mariah M. Friend

Falta

Me haces falta You are missing from me

You were never good with accents couldn't pronounce the word baño to save your life

But when I flew to France for the holidays to visit my then-boyfriend, you wrote an entire Christmas card in French, painstakingly translating your love in ALL CAPS

sent it in a sealed envelope and said— "Daughter, here are some wool socks to keep you warm.

"It's cold near the North Pole and I know you are looking for the light."

Liam Strong

AFTER-PARTY AT SPIDER LAKE & THE LAST STAY FAST HOMETOWN SHOW

the rocks punch my shins before water considered my face. jumping in i want

a familiar sense of being held. maybe to break surface tension down, comprehend its many

facilities & corners. my arms are empty allen wrenches scratching at footholds. it's easier

for me wanting to become the goth girl who lingers on the dock, easier to hate

myself like some punk-ballad cliche. there's no effort in singing that to myself. fill a lake with trash cans, you

get a metropolis of turnbuckles. but where to place myself among things cast away? i've got three budweiser

tall bois in me & no name behind the ass of my trunks. i could be my stillborn sister,

tits legible through sodden Silverstein shirt. the water never warms until

August, & school's back in. i'd walk through, sopping with regret, lighter

than air, queerer than ramshorn snails. my lungs don't know what they'll hear

when they reach up for release or reincarnation. a person will never love

the first dive back no matter how little we shiver.

NATURALIZING

when i begin to feel like a tourist in my own life i turn to changing yet unchanging nature

the delight of the summer sun marching proudly across the sky until the bittersweet hour when it melts into the arms of twilight

that gentle executioner painting the sky in the gaudiness of daylight's death

the winter mornings i taste the first snow in steelgray clouds although it hasn't yet started falling to bury us in its shroud

knowing the coming labor of clearing it does nothing to diminish the anticipation of its beauty sparkling in the kiss of the next sun

and between these hot and cold extremes the changeable delights of spring and fall

winds warm and cool the births and deaths of green growing things

the arrival and departure of birds that wake us and sing us to sleep

along with armies of buzzing humming croaking creatures filling evenings with atonal hymns

the embrace of nature resurrects the will to participate in the carnival of life that like a kaleidoscope

delivers fresh beauty with each turn of the wheel

KYPHOSIS

This spring rain bounces off cars and basketballs left in the driveway of some vinyl-sided house on a street with no sidewalks named for the breed of a faithfully domestic dog.

By an east-facing window, a crop of magnificent herbs turns anemic dead basil's not a judgement, but it's not good for pesto, either. No one is charmed by false humility, no one is

worried about the curving of my spine, the hunched back I'll make without striving. Nobody cares for poems about flowers by women who buy them and let them die. I should be seen, should suffer

immortality—preserved for scrutiny in digital photos where I look exactly as I look, crooked. It is always the shape, not the size, that's the obstacle, always turning in the mirror to turn away. Hard

truth is the great deterrent. That sound of my own voice, heard on VHS tapes, has me hungry for distraction. Stooped and staring into the shadows of the fridge drawers to find old kale, softened and black, or anything rotten I can throw away.

Meredith Macleod Davidson

BESOTTED

The glitch aesthetics are at it again ~I guess four times revising the day's data mine ~refresh, refresh, refresh, reharvest drawn from beneath the chin, man's thumb ~keep it light, now guiding a gaze disdained. The images ~it is important to be seen performing the rites degenerating with every tap ~even if it is bad, just be seen from home inward. The timer loosens sand ~in a way, metaphysical with a threat: miss your moment and you only ~your moment, like you own it have the one; with a reward: be present ~I do have an issue with intrinsic motivation again, again. There is a principle ~not to mention obsession to applications, an imperative ~think business to encourage our continued visits. ~ "the feminine urge to disappear" If I am always replicated there, ~that's me rent-free in your mind right now how can I ever truly be here, when ~in the darkness I cannot look myself in the mirror intimacy is a closeness you feel.

Jeff Hardin

A POEM IS A WAY OF PRACTICING A SERMON

Forsaken in the world, shuttled from home to home, I broke open smooth rocks to find a sky inside. Now I do the same with words.

Across from a pasture of cows, a white church left its door unlocked through the week. A boy could practice a sermon spoken only to God.

Can anyone say with certainty that the rapture hasn't already happened? Even so, someone still has to gather in rows of okra and squash.

Some poets spend their lives speaking of beauty, truth, or blessing. Meanwhile, another boat of migrants capsized overnight. Not all find rescue.

Sometimes I sat in one pew, then another, then stood, kneeled, bowed my head, lifted my arms, trying out every self to find the one redeemed.

Hallie Fogarty

CATECHISM

after Donika Kelly's "Commandments"

Abstain from touch, from widening within spaces. Grow accustomed to being larger than the space you're allowed.

Abstention means disowning. Means dissolve.

Dissolving means the taking apart of your body, stitches ripped out.

Dismembering is a pastime. Dismembering is an affirmation. Touch the body to itself.

And so, where once a body, now the imprint of a body. Where once an imprint, now an idea.

Dissection means all the knives are sharp. Recollection means all the rooms are empty.

Empty means you have disintegrated, means someone can take your place. Your place, implying a mark was made.

Ace Boggess

LIFE INDOORS

Mouse in the closet, bird in the garage. There is no folklore here but winter,

urgency to escape, seek shelter, a roof between safety & snow,

carpet with crumbs like a lush meadow in spring. The Bicknell's thrush,

speckle-necked & plump, can't find its way through an opening,

trying to breach the invisible barricade of windows along the far wall.

Like wiper blades, its wings rise then slide back down the glass.

When the thrush relents, rests, I collect it in gloved hands,

walk it out, release it like a dove. I wish I could say things

will end as well for the mouse. Today, I close the door, leave it alone.

Tomorrow or someday soon, I'll no longer be a gentle man.

Barbara Westwood Diehl

HOLDING MY PHONE ABOVE MY HEAD AND RECORDING WITH THE BIRD ID APP

I search. If there is a god, the god knows this. I think, there must be a god with hands that can wipe eagles and hawks right off the sky like the guy at the diner who clears the pie plates and coffee cups, shoulders hunched.

For now, the world hides its bright feathers in a fist behind its back. Finches clenched like new nickels. I search the roof ridges and power lines, the places I've been told to search. The poplar is choked with leaves. Only leaves. The Open sign of the world is turned to Closed.

Dust reshuffles itself. A papery air of farmers almanacs, remedies and moons. Forecasts. Crows in pairs, fine weather. Seagulls flying inland, here comes rain. I think I believed in gods and almanacs once. I am told a Carolina Wren is singing. I am told an American Robin is singing. I am told to go slow, to sift through sound, to study shape, but my hands want to grasp music by its feathered throat.

Why should I believe what I am told. I can't even imagine what I hear singing.

Postbang

The closet is dead, okay? Its back was blown out and the darkness it held like a warm sweater had unfurled into hideous light a beige that stole the green off the grass. The explosion took so little, really, but what it took, it took completely. Like quiet, which became

a nursery rhyme, something you made up to keep the little ones happy. Like the calendar that hung on the closet door, now only the savage curls of too big eyelashes on the wrecked pine floor. But the door itself survived.

Recontextualized, it rested flat on the queen bed, hinges all a-twist. And intimacy. Once something inside has become outside, it never really gets to be inside again. A room that once felt far from the weeds feels them now like a starchy tag on a new shirt, an irritant we all pretend to ignore while it rubs raw.

Jeff William Acosta

2022, BAGUIO CITY

Baguio's too cold tonight my love throw me inside your body like an undone bullet I wish it would kill me this time make the bed a mess of our fears midnight took my last breath before I was 18 I carry voices of ghosts that lived in my childhood at Trancoville St a woman was found silenced with a tape her mouth can't swallow and I heard it echo outside our window I don't want you to know that I crave to live and make a god out of you Lovie don't laugh look how happy we are Lordforgive us to be no one is enough to erase ourselvesdrown to the sound of innocence I fear the softnessyou gentle enough angelteeth soft animal my body hungers

Jeff William Acosta

DEAR WEEJU

1

Let me begin again / with love / like awakened & deathless / like how we used mahal as a type of fuel / to start every sentence. Tell me / how our tongues carry / the weight of infinite stinging /sub-atomic particles of a dying star. /Call it lost wishes. Call it a memory / when my lips still hold your name. / Here is what I know: my mouthful /of hope / my shedding skins / sleeveless. I am my own nocturne. / I unwrapped a piece of my bones / only to learn my body's constellations / are still unholy. I promised myself not / to look upwards / so I can survive a canon / flash of your snow skin.

2

Unbearable / your thighs— / a guillotine of wants. My god / was drowning. / I am trying to stay / clean—sink my head only to put it /up like it's the last day /of my penance. It's been a long time / since I had weight. I had substance.

3

How the pavements echo/ a name / a voice I mistook / for grace. I sentenced myself / to everlasting / night ritual. If I stayed on my knees / I'd reach for your lips. / Again / to your songs. / It doesn't make sense Lovie / that love is a wound. And ours / a slaughterhouse. You / a flick of a knife. / Because I'd keep coming / back to our psalm-less tongues— / how we learnt to recognize / touch: the open passage of one mouth / into the other. Watch the spring tide / lick around our bodies. / Two sinners tied / to a prayer.

4

Today / A Tuesday I started running/ though I kept stopping to touch / again my body just to be safe / just in case I forget. / I understand now / even when surrounded by ghosts / how to celebrate my bruises / how to worship / like everyone else—I confessed / to the Lord / I want a storm I can dance in. / To the moon to be brighter / than any moon. / Am I greedy / if I ask for comfort? / for your forgiveness? / The answer is always an echo. / Topsy turvy. / Aimless against my throat—your hands / if not god's / I'd ask to tighten your fingers / around my neck / like a noose— like a fist / not enough to ruin me / but just so it wakes you / terrified at night / & restless without end / bear my slow hollowing—the sound / of pleasure you cannot will / as an arousal. / Because I had to assure myself / until my name / my body / starve you empty.

5

I kept running closer / not where I grieved my deaths / but the distance / between our sins / and daylight. That I can / name a new name for mahal / this myth /question our tongues. Lovie / I messed up. I admit the wars / never ends in my head. / Because my demons still haunt me / in my sleep & I am killing them / in silence. Because I am out of breath / & I call myself holy anyway. / I want to be left in solitude / when the night sky breaks / its wounds / turns lifeless like falling stars / bursting into red / & I disappear completely.

Holly Cian

A DAY AT THE MUSEUM

We walked along a public greenway in crisp weather, late fall, surrounded by the color of sunlight

in the trees. We ate in a small cafe tucked in the corner of North Market;

I picked out plump vegetables for yogurt; later, we browsed a collection of art at the city

museum; I brushed your arm, and you smiled, and as the hours of the day wound down

like the wheels of a train as it nears the place where it is headed, we said less and less,

and in the morning, we said it had been a wonderful day. I don't know how to not

end up here. To not put my shoes in this hallway. I wonder how I would

have been changed. The moon, the clouds; anything can cover the stars.

YOUR CELLAR

I say too much at dinner because I am nervous. My pages are softening and you have things to show me. It is four. I lift myself to be a part of you. The fat dripping sun is high in the sky. Everything now preaches back at what happened before, all the little visions. Shoes are tied. I'm round as a peach. I filter a wooden comb through my hair. I once attended a training where our darkness was referred to as the cellar and you live in your cellar; I'm a part of your tall yard reaching to the lid of your entrance. How can I slide into my own mind? Everything about the cellar and the yard and being braised in the sun: if you can float you float, if you could eat you would eat, and if you could die you would die, and I would sleep in your hands. I'm skeptical of anything to do with a pear and when you hold your hands out to me in that shape, it looks like you are dying, all at once you are becoming a closed eye. I am afraid of you always: that is love. In the past I inhaled smoke from the fire. I laundered clean sheets. I struck the sky that was so black in the night. That is also love. Your grind. The round world, round as a rock or a reverse in direction. It is night again. It rains again. I cup my hands out for it as though for your face. I'm going again. And you, sweet as a strawberry, in the things we did I never forgot how cold we could be together.

Jon Parrish Peede

METAFICTION AT SARDIS LAKE, MISSISSIPPI

Sardis Lake, dry as a whistle, is waiting for the spring rain to return. The two of us, beers in hand, await too.

This certain Thursday we have not written for a long time, and it is grinding against us like a big gear upon a smaller one.

We don't know anymore what we want from the page, or what the page wants from us. So we come here, to the water, or at least its shadow.

From the boat landing at Hurricane, we watch the sun drop behind the cypress,

burning time with our Zippos.

A cold wind sweeps the lakebed from the north,

kicking up candy wrappers, wrecked bobbers, swirls of dirt. It promises a dry season.

We no longer speak here. We don't have the words for it. In a world full of fish, we've run out of bait.

A HOUSE REPAIRED

The plumbers finally moved along two weeks before, maybe three.

Then you noticed something wrong and turned the jewelry box toward me.

The emerald bracelet was gone, engraved at Christmas: SKP.

A first-born's heirloom never shared the price of a house repaired. Jason Gordy Walker

GREETING CHARLES HENRI FORD AT ROSE HILL CEMETERY

Brookhaven, Mississippi

Circling the graveyard behind the public school my father attended years ago, observing tombstones chiseled with the names of my long dead cousins, I rubbed my sunburned scalp, puzzled not to find

your resting place. I pictured it adorned with a tulip, petals luminescing among the weeds beside a chipped picket fence, like in my dreams of Hazlehurst. Throat-tightened, worried I might not find you,

I thought of flowers cooing, pixelated in my mind's eye. My aching chest relieved. I breathed. Sunlight caressed a modest plot of grass: Your father, his wife. Your sister, Ruth Ford: ACTRESS—MUSE. No tulips in sight.

I gasped when I saw you, a stone: SLEEPING THROUGH HIS REWARD. I had waited so long to tell you how much I loved "A Curse for the War Machine," but here you were asleep

No blossoms for you. I touched the ground. Not above your bone. Nor above your handsome skull. Above your ash. I wanted to learn how to cure myself of word-shitting. But why did I ask you, my country's first Surrealist poet?

Fasasi Abdulrosheed Oladipupo

AFTER THE CHAOS

The mayor would add more badges, accolades, nations...... Would marry silence, corporals and sergeants would be forced into Psychosis of the veteran-hood, memories will come after them, voices of Children whose bodies were turned rags, cries of their mothers'

Packing the gifts of war, after the chaos mothers will sing Their children through the dusk, into the dawn, empty streets will Echo the music of bombs, more memos, vacancies at prosthetic Industries, as more fingers would be needed for soldiers

Who dashed theirs to chaos, more legs for patriots bitten By explosives, "*dedi bodi go full ground, dem say Hefty men are needed to dig the ground and till the soil For the dictators to eat.*" After the chaos schools would be opened

For the students of history to learn more, more theories and hypotheses For all, more cartoons in the dailies, more grief for the poets who survived the doom

More memories that would last the world for another two decades, More women carrying the ashes of their dead family at our borders,

More news that suffices us like rain after a long drought.

SLIGHT OF HAND

By dint of wanting to elicit the marvelous at every turn, the magician becomes a bureaucrat. — Alejo Carpentier

When Vanya the Dog perished from being pet, the magician yanked endless rainbow hanky from my sleeves,

& I'd dab my eyes with the reds.

We sit shiva in the living room! The magician throws cards he won't pick up.

The magician saws a woman in half & everyone applauds — white gloves on,

the magician's smooth palms are like paper en route to origami.

Long ago he [the /

magician] yanked my boyish hand as I dashed into crosswalks — I saw

cars without hands pushing plastic necks. When I was a boy a magician

matched his palms to mine,

& seeing the smallness of me, my inaptitude for sleight,

he linked our fingers like wreckage,

each thumb a monster truck, the secrets huddled under ratchet strap

& each trick's instruction

a white dove awaiting [in the wings / in a trunk] a cue. He stumbled his way to my ear, I felt the electric graze of his finger, nearly —

I don't think he touched me, but I know I sniffed money's metal, invisible under gloves.

When I was a boy I was the sort of boy you'd expect, bearing gifts of fists that unclenched,

revealing [at last / at least] a butterfly

making tarmac of this palm, used cocoon, it says here, of my fingers.

Matthew Merson

She Like A Fish

she was swinging on a grapevine across the creek that smells like crawfish

innocent as a dragonfly I hated her when I saw her

how could I ever say that out of all the others I loved her

we were only kids and it was the summer

kudzu vines and humidity hypnotized me with

a spell of a snakecharmer she held lightning bugs on her tongue with

the most elusive fish in the creek I desperately wanting to land

fly rod moving with the rhythm of a pendulum

fly rod moving with the rhythm of a pendulum

desperately wanting to land the most elusive fish in the creek I

held lightning bugs on her tongue with a spell of a snakecharmer she

hypnotized me with kudzu vines and humidity

> it was the summer we were only kids and

out of all the others I loved her how could I ever say that I hated her when I saw her innocent as a dragonfly

across the creek that smells like crawfish she was swinging on a grapevine

Sabrina Ito

MARRIAGE CONTRACT

Husband, your job will be to keep the wolf at the door. Never let me spy its jaw line completely mask its eyes, black its teeth, cut off its claw-crusted feet, so that you can dangle them from a key chain that you'll make for me, for my birthday.

Though, I know that at times this will be too much to ask - like, on dark winter evenings when you are tired, and I am crying, or claiming some strange form of insomnia. It is then that you must keep the door ajar, and tempt the wolf closer with fresh meat so that I might sleep through the nightmares that will invite all the snowdrifts in, to collect in the hallway, lock me in.

NEXT TRACK: LOVE IN VAIN

There's always a train, he used to say. Always a train, a whistle in darkness, reminder of distances we'll never know. Reminder of there not here, you not me and curved strung-out wires in between. Reminder of infrastructure, metal and bones that suddenly give up their marrow. Reminder of Christmas wide-eved vulnerability, shiny wrappers that can't keep their promises. Each steampunk locomotive a vector for transgression dispossession marched out across maps. Iron and deadwood and black-hammered spikes, screech of smoke on non-helical rails. Bright pennies sacrificed on the backyard tracks, small copper faces distorted. Memory of a perfect day, when shadows shook the armor from my shoulders. Cradle rocking. Or insistent forward, like the Folsom Prison Blues. Lions and peacocks roared through mimosas that tossed feathered forms on our moldy white walls. Memory of a mattress then solidity of my square heel on a platform under rustle of silk skirts. Parallel scars travel dark rooms punctuated by stations and steam under streetlights.

Tammy Greenwood

Assemblage

As.sem.blage | art that is made by assembling disparate elements often everyday objects—scavenged by the artist

She was made from the mud of the Gulf, a sculpture of found objects sediments of stardust assembled over decades of wanderings digging through layers of shale for the place that had never been wounded.

Collaged with sheddings of others —snake skin, cicada shells and antlers

arms draped in rosary beads and malas singing to all the gods while mantled in manzanita.

Each cell of her honeycombed hair

filled with relics envied by the bowerbird

feeding her unblemished heart wrapped in words words unfolding into welcomed wings carried on breaths among milkweed and dandelion seeds.

ALWAYS PERFECTLY NICE

she wakens and reaches for the smile kept safely in the box by the bedside

pulling at each corner after brushing her teeth as a conductor straightens

his bowtie before his performance screaming pillow kept safely

buckled on the passenger seat silently wearing her strands of sorrows

neatly knotted like the good set of pearls

escaping the preserving jar with too few holes pierced in the lid to breathe

the word nice becoming nothing more than semantic satiation

nice, nice, nice... knife, slice, cries, demise, dies

she lets the crowd pass steps aside for the masses

searching through faces of strangers with their perfect smiles

connected like a row of paper dolls joined by one seamless cut

Vaughn Hayes

20^{TH} Century Nudity

People at the edge of town slung together and slid out of their soft clothes, into someone's back pocket.

It was a terrible age: *Black* for Jim's skinning Crows, *Jew* for hatred's searing shower; all buried under some eternal curfew.

It was nothing like Modigliani, not a celebration of our shapes nor of the strength in a déshabillé. Instead, an abacus of flesh.

"Art?!" Cry out. "You think *art* can save us from this?" Maybe...we will find...muscle, supple and gentle, a stripe

above gravity, a shouldering out of the soil, a rosy wing! But the manic empires couldn't see any beauty beyond purpose.

And here we are now, and here it is happening again our napes buttoned, our breasts shut. Useful, but not for us.

MEGAFAUNA

we introduce fire in the morning; boreal cindering,

soot the bark, soot the sky, soot the teeth and bones.

we dice the vegetation, arid diet, delicacy, fowl eggs

crack-stone, gum trees, fertile plains. we claim the soil.

thumb the earth. we take stick to skin, arrowhead

meet muscle, trap palms, we see other, we big scared,

we overkill. we folklore, we dream. by night, we eat the future.

Jane Rosenberg LaForge

FIREPROOFING

In grade school fire was a triangle. Oxygen, of course, was everywhere, so we had to watch for other inspirations. We lived on a ledge, less involved than most homes when it came to accelerants, though within the pine and conifers that were said to be materiel. Notify a grown-up if you see smoke but not always your parents, as they are prone to see faces in the blaze as it reaches upward, mouths wrenched open to give their final speeches. After school, my friends and I peeled the bark of eucalyptus, as if it was our sunburned skin; or tin foil to be sundered from wax paper, the wrapping of our confections. We separated vinyl and plastic with our fingernails from the covers of our textbooks because we were looking for the god in things, what kindles decisions in men, heroics in boys, the palm, sage, and greasewood bushes in our neighborhoods: native and perilous, yet necessary in the season where only roots in the soil resisted the force of gravity. We ran from flowers because they attracted bees. just as we ran to escape the words and warnings of our mothers, their presence like embers with that power to resurrect the geometries.

Amanda Roth

HOW TO COOK A WOLF

I recognize the wolf by the way he jingles his keys while he walks, circles the houses of every woman and child, calls them each beautiful.

I say woman and child, but we both know the younger the better — red cape closing 'round faces round with baby fat, all the better

for his eyes and lips and teeth. The thing about this wolf is how he plays every part: narrator, prince, huntsman, father, fairest

of them all. Note the shapeshifting, how he hides his eyes, double checks for a tail. This is how you recognize

a wolf: by the way he is anything but a wolf, by the way he figure-eights through forest traps, how he mouths

the words *let me come in* while eyeing the slopes of your roof. My daughters, the world is full of wolves. He is only one.

Now, let me show you how to keep your chimney open and the fires hot. How to be ready when a wolf

slips.

Arianna Moulton

WHEN I WAS FOUR

I used to ask if the dad would be home when my mom took me to a friend's house.

I didn't want to see his scratchy face, hear that louder voice.

But thirty years of forgetting has made waves out of my body,

an ocean of thoughts spill like milk, a cheerio mess.

I pay money to sift through the emotional silt,

shaking around for a hint of gold, invaluable stress.

Because remembering never seemed so important, so urgent.

If it wasn't for the tides reminding me that change bends with the earth,

I would put down that mirror, breathe into myself, release all questions, the non-memory of him.

Marisa P. Clark

The Therapist Asks Why I'm Reading a Biography of Sylvia Plath

I suppose when most of what is known of a person is her madness and suicide and the holidays encroach, daylight shrinks, dark and cold close in, and loneliness arrives, unwelcome guest—

it's fitting that my therapist should inquire. The book is good, that's all. It came recommended by a friend, and I've long admired the poet's work. Every word has me in suspense; I hold

my breath, complicit, witness to her unraveling life. Relentless, the London winter, the wet, the snow, the cold; the husband a louse. The children stay ill. The pills

don't help. On the desk, a black binder of typed pages, all there is of order: *Ariel*. I near the end I know is coming. I fear she won't make it out alive. Lyndsey Kelly Weiner

my son turns 10

a black & blond fisher cat dashes across our dirt road a sideways parenthesis gliding into the pond

tulip shoots grow 3 inches under a foot of spring snow when it melts they stand like smug red penises

spring peepers cling to the screen door the window hums with their din while my son's in the bath

I hand him my deodorant stick from the drawer so he can begin erasing parts of himself

the rooster climbs on the black hen for the 5th time his mouth full of her fine neck feathers

on my son's 9th birthday his father handed him 5 crisp twenties we haven't seen him since

the crescent moon skims the top of the tamarack trees lighting their young green needles before slipping away

THE MAN WHO BUILT MY HOUSE

parked his red snowmobile next to one of my tumble-down sheds I don't know when but it has all metal parts did he know it was the last time

he built my house when he was 20 and we bought it when he was 60 he had prostate cancer and 2 little dogs named Katie and Molly I and my husband had our son in my belly

the man who built my house moved to Arizona to live with his favorite cousin

his son had died in a foreign war and his wife left

he sold his 0-turn mower

I can only see the snowmobile in spring when it's not covered with vines or drifts

I don't know where the man who built my house stays but I hear he's back I don't know where my husband stays

last week I saw the man who built my house come down our dirt road in his conversion van with his 2 dogs on his lap small dogs live a long time

SCHEHERAZADE AT THE DOCTOR'S

The doctor opens her laptop and frowns I tell her about my six year old son who sneaks Double Stuffed Oreos at night leaving crumbs all over his bed he can't figure out how I know she returns to her screen *I am so very sorry* she says, looking down I regale her with stories of my mother throwing noodles against the walls to see if they are done hiding scotch in shampoo bottles stumbling down to dinner

She leans over to show me the MRI I tell her the story of when my daughter was in first grade and went to school wearing layers of my make up along with a pair of high-heeled shoes the teacher made me come get her didn't think it was at all funny the doctor smiles a wide lipstick smile smooths her hair and closes her laptop I ask her to join me for lunch where I will tell even more stories Jessica Conley

The Amniocentesis

At the vineyard the winemaker shows us the barrel thief, a glass tube,

a way of drawing out wine

to test its readiness,

and now I'm back

in my mother's womb, reaching for the needle's silver, my first wound

still red years later

like sliced fruit I hold out

on my palm. For my mother,

a way to be sure—collecting the warm water, my silent house—that I would

stand at the doorway

when she called my name.

And, when the need to be near

filled her throat, she knew I would reach for what was close.

Emily Adams-Aucoin

CROSS SECTION

like all daughters, I witnessed my mother's pain & how she cradled it. I mirrored the motions,

spoke to her pain politely, smiled with my teeth. I took some of it with me when I left.

0

a memory of myself: another hazy September; a short skirt, my empty hands

at the bar or alone in my violet room, drumming the beat of my loneliness on my bare thigh. I spilled

my drink. I spilled myself across a stranger's living room because I wanted to light some small

thing inside of me.

0

I wrote a poem about my longing— it is still ongoing, it contains

everything. I tried to leave the center of myself; I crossed one ocean & swallowed another.

I belonged sometimes. mostly to the darkness, which I called my life.

0

the trees in the backyard spelled out fear with their bare branches,

but no one else saw it. we'd planted them as delicately as we could; our hands had trembled

with tenderness.

we covered them up like children for the freeze. then, we watched the leaves shrivel & fall one by

one, in protest to the cold or the covering, or both.

0

I had a daughter who was born already full of light, & I kept the darkness from her carefully,

like something sharp or on fire. it wasn't easy.

it wasn't easy, but I don't think she'll take it with her when she leaves.

Linda Hughes

THOSE STARS ON YOUR NIGHTGOWN

Those stars on your nightgown remind me of the jukebox in that diner where we used to hang out.

I take her hand and we start a slow dance. No music but the rain outside.

My mouth close to her ear, I want to do for you what the rain does for the leaves.

Mm-hmm.

I touch the soft shine of her collarbone trace there with my fingers.

What a sunrise does to clouds. I want to open you like a poem devour each perfect word.

Ah, you've been reading Neruda again.

I dip her low. Her long hair sweeps the floor. *Maybe Neruda has been reading me.*

I don't want to be pushed down by the weight of love.

Love has no weight. It won't constrain even as briefly as the nightingale's wing brushing by the morning lark.

I twirl her. Invisible ribbons wrap around, pull us closer.

I often feel I don't know you. It seems we have just met that we are unacquainted.. *I will let you ride on the threads of my memories to know me more deeply.*

Perhaps we could exchange finger prints. Better than a tattoo. Those fade.

Rain waltzes around the window pane, catching candle light.

I touch her fingers to my lips.

She presses her palm against my cheek.

Her fingers move along the curves of my face, knowing me.

Her kiss is like a rose opening layers into her sacred self. The pull of desire finds us there moves the dance to our bed.

At morning I wake seeing we are clothed only in sunlight.

She lies away from me at the far edge. Sweet as a ripe pear in her nakedness.

Breathing out strands of silk to wrap herself, in solitude.

Linda Hughes

WE STOP BY THE LAKE WHERE YOU PROPOSED

The lake is low, It ebbs and flows with the rain and the water let in. Today it shows stones we stepped on years ago.

Under those trees the grass covered floor where we lay. Do we wish we had chosen different ways?

You don't recall you picked flowers for me on the hill, placed them one by one in my hair.

I remember the car wouldn't start when we left the radio on while dancing barefoot in the grass. You say that was a different time.

Memory tells lies, images detach, mingle. The future we have reveals itself second by second like that sliver of moon lifting above the cloud.

What will we remember of this day: that last bright leaf hanging tight on the tree? How you took my hand and we danced in silence in the shimmering light at the edge of the Earth?

John Moessner

DEATH IS NEVER FAR

...a victim

of the part that loved, the part that was mortal.

Louise Glück

Driving at night, I enjoy the silence and the stars, the steadiness of a dark world, the stark outlines of nocturnal animals against a bright moon. You never find a meteor by looking. You need to pour the whole sky through the sieve

of your peripheral. Our bodies have adjusted for this, our rods better in low light, possessed of patience, a finger on a radio dial rolling through bands of static, searching for a break in the fuzzy pattern. On the edge of my radio's reach, the opening notes of Mahler's Fifth

trumpet into the pool of night that buoys me, a clearing so crystalline the silence between notes hums in tune. Our souls have not adjusted to this dark indifference, a black top hat we pull gods from, ascribing significance to any streaking spark. The termination of the Moon

behind Earth shadow, a lover's body beneath sheets: their stunning disregard leaves me wanting. Once, I was told God loved me so much he braided each of Saturn's rings. But in photographs, it's not the broad disks of stardust, or the millions of miles, or the singular

probe sending back its particles of light that grab me, but the inky space, a void so finite it looks fake, cutting the striations of atmosphere, its numerous moons. What waits beyond that velvet veil? Is it the same silent animal breathing beyond my headlights?

Jennifer Raha Newhouse

HEREAFTER

I ignore the crumbs, sip coffee in stillness & imagine the ghost of this house is watching. My grandmother has been visiting me, prodding me into a more appropriate motherhood, where we are happiest-one with gravy and durable, pretty things. You can see it in my new desire for solid wood furniture, a flower garden. How long does it take to miss the dead? She has just gone next door. Often, I pass her in the produce aisle quietly assessing the fruit. You'll say her absence has slipped into eternal song-the cardinal by the window reminding cheer-cheer. Surely, that's her now, finally, opening the squealing back door of my mother's house, relieved to find me, having been gone so long: oh hi, Jenny-

Esther Sadoff

I don't know in what key my mother hungers

I know she planned to leave a thousand times, waiting for a prince charming down the line, not that she actually needed to leave or truly wanted to but things can always look up. After all, no man is perfect. So when I too make escape plan after escape plan, it's not because I need to but because I believe in choices. On the crowded subway, my mother's eyes watch the exit. She looks for signs, a need for a swift getaway and so do I. My mother is always dreaming of what's next. At the piano lesson, she is brutally honest. She slaps her knees, sighs, and waves her hands as if to say What did you expect? My mother knows there's always someone working harder. Like my grandmother always said There are other fish in the sea though I took this to mean a million fins flitting, tails swishing. Always someone hungrier. Someone who wants it more.

RECITATION

Even now your absence does not offend in the wholeness of winter when wind circles grey upon barren trees. I cannot trust loose words professed from cold lips when every palm turns to touch and all eyes lift away from sorrow. I count the leaves collecting in high piles, dving outside wooden doors, and step with soft steps past the iron gate into a garden, onto hard ground of sticks and stones and forgotten things. Here, not a single crocus blooms, only the mockingbird under a juniper, cracking twigs like oyster shells. Now, I want to taste the brine so not to forget the sea's relentless tide, a churn that does not open the shell but asks the moon to slit the mollusk in due time. I beg you, wind: minister to this flesh. Let the waning moon draw high tide higher, let go what is low. I know everything I have ever written has been told to me and this season will find its end. Peace, the peace you give. I savor the body present. Even now, in this absence, almost emptied of the light.

THIS TIME

Let us touch the fruit. Eat through its tender layers of skin and wait in the shade of knowing.

Under a crystal canopy sky at the mouth of an immovable river our skin, this stone burns to sapphire, violet, and tangerine.

Some daughters still in their original positions: knees drawn in, covered with moss, flesh still fresh with musk and myrrh.

The caladrius arrives to comfort us, to turn life-lines and love-lines in a position to receive, to teach: healed is to heal.

Something somewhere is casting us free. I say to daughters with skin not yet leathered by the sun's ceaseless beating:

your hands will touch my shadow but turn your gaze on the day when without shame we will skin everything forbidden.

Andrea Menendez

THE INHERITANCE

The burlap sacks sat neatly forgotten by the back door while the white velvet of the early April frost burned the budding leaves of the fig tree

rescued from my mother's mother's cuttings

The extension office said it'd be fine and I believed them and cried as I pruned the shriveled branches down to the quick

Do you remember the final summer after the funeral plucking too ripe fruit from the parent tree cradling the bursting purple flesh in the Cool Whip container from the kitchen and presenting the best one to you from my sticky palm as you said

I've never had a fig

So I promised their sweetness and pleaded

Let's grow these for ourselves.

INSTRUCTIONS FOR A FUNERAL

We like to see the body one last time illuminated by the fluorescent flicker of Visitation Parlor No. 2.

We need to stare hard at the folds of slack skin. Follow the familiar rivulets and valleys now eroded by gravity and the embalmer's heavy hand.

It looks nothing like him.

We smile, relieved, like recognizing an actor in a haunted house.

We poke our finger at the starched cloud lining the wooden box and hear a plastic crinkle like opening a library book.

"What'd they stuff this with? Easter grass?"

And now Mom's tears are choked out with a laugh that cuts through the haze of lilies and roses, her lilting breath rattling the styrofoam hearts perched on flimsy wire tripods.

We join in this obscene display, holding our sides now silently wheezing until the visitors grow tired of waiting and the dead walls crumble around us.

Jim Tilley

CHANNELING PLATO

It's been nearly eight years since I last wrote to you, father, yet here I sit at the antique walnut desk with letter paper set out on the inlaid leather top. I remember drawing points and lines, making planar graphs to disprove your latest conjecture about how to demonstrate elegantly the truth of the famous coloring theorem.

I pick up the brass icosahedral paperweight and turn it in my hand, the key, I have hypothesized, to the theorem—it never failed a test I subjected it to, but in the end, fell short of a watertight proof. How strange the Greeks with their four elements and five regular polyhedra. How ironic that Plato chose to assign the icosahedron to water.

But now, as I write, I imagine the shape of fire instead, the flame you kindled in my brain by way of math conundrums you posed on our walks. Plato again, the tetrahedron, its four apexes like licking flames, fire struck into being by matchsticks, six assembled into four triangular faces, the very first puzzle you gave me to solve.

I can't recall anything based on the earthly cube or airy octahedron. Dodecahedron the fifth Platonic solid—is not an element at all. To you, it stood for something like the quintessence of thought. As I placed your ashes into the ground, I found it hard to breathe, not inspiring air in that moment, but thinking of the love for math you handed down.

AND STILL THE EARTH IS SHAKING

-arrange the numbers 1 to 4, each occurring twice, so that between the appearances of the number n, there are n numbers.

Took longer than it should have, but I figured it out, the correct string of numbers, not a combination to a lock I had forgotten, nor a key to understanding the incomprehensible, but the solution to a puzzle my mind had been turning over since the latest horrific news for the planet, the death of more than 50,000 this time. Reminds me of when Richter 7.8 struck China and buried 900 schoolchildren. Now, the same for these new victims and their survivors, who'll try to carry on in the world when they'll only want to be anywhere else, so long as it's with their lost ones, even in an alternate universe where the unthinkable didn't take place because fault lines don't exist there and slippage can't occur, a place assembled according to a different set of rules, a kinder geology, yet where beauty can still be found. So, yes, I have solved that number puzzle, but can't fathom these too-large numbers, can't imagine a man holding the hand of his deceased 15-year-old daughter still pinned under the rubble of their home, or two breathless brothers locked in a final embrace. Instead, once again, I must distance myself from a tragedy. Play some music, read a book, go for a walk, forever unable to figure out why any god would let this happen.

Ellen June Wright

OF ORDINARY MEN AND MINISTERS

I never learned to love the gun the heft of it, the ice of gunmetal steel,

the power of my index finger squeezing the trigger. I never learned to prepare

for the recoil's punch or the blast's fire-cracker pop. I've only ever seen what a gun can do.

On the news, I've witnessed the assassination of ordinary men and foreign ministers.

I've seen the shock of a bullet to the back of the skull for resisting arrest; 60 bullets in the back for fleeing unarmed.

I've witnessed a gun mistaken for a taser. I've witnessed the wrecked, blurred bodies of grandparents after the parade.

Be Good

The opposite, shame. As in: there is only one legitimate reason to spend time on your knees. As in: your teeth should scrape the skin of plums, not your knuckles.

Your throat—a one way cavern, a body of water in which to sanitize your hang ups. Your throat should experience each food only once. Swallow and be done with—for good.

Be good. Don a dress that fits well, falls below your knees, doesn't drag the floor. Size matters. As in: a size too big to protect your body from unworthiness. As in: dress for the job you deserve, not the one you want.

Want. The opposite, to taste the fruit whose juice is your ruin. Too much juice takes you places. As in: do you come here often? As in: to be the first to know.

Too much is worse than not enough. Know your place—standing in for your mother, your name interchangeable with her job, it's your father's fault.

Measure in silk, in bowls and jars, in brevity. As in: good enough. As in: skin and bones. As in: it's all relative. Keep your clothes on.

Bless us oh lord, for these thy gifts. As in: white fish, no bread. As in: take only what you need. Be good. As in: be small. Be quiet. Be less. Angelica Whitehorne

An Eight-Year-Old Boy Dies Crossing the Rio Grande River as Ted Cruz's Daughters Fly to Cancun to Escape the Texas Storm

The girls take their seats. Neck pillows, wool socks, last year's movies playing on flat screens: a coming of age film, a thriller, a love story. But they chose to sleep, silk masks blocking the light from their eyes.

The boy holds onto the side of his mother's sweater, which is too light for the desert night as they trudge from one wrecked country to the next—

another voyage paid for by a parent's devotion. Her turned out body, not so different from Ted's Amex, (both pushing and sliding through the storm).

How all of us, and I mean *all* of us, will send our children the distance for safety.

The boy chooses to watch the flat horizon, a love story, a hope in the fantasy production of our country, he does not rest, his body is his only vessel—

and is this the lesson, we get the escape we pay for?

In the second hour, one daughter reclines her chair back, the other shakes out a cramp from the flat of her foot, complains about the space the plane can afford her.

On the second day, the boy's blisters pop and bleed, but he keeps walking toward the river with his family, the land sprawling and hungry, the snow dusting the bones of other failed journeys.

30,000 feet up into the sky and the girls' ears pop and crackle, they force air through their noses, a woman in heels strolls a cart down the aisle and hands them mini water bottles, packets of peanuts.

300 miles in and the boy is wishing for water, until they hit the river bank. With no wings, the only way over is through. Then the boy wishes the water away, but only the current moves.

And how he could have been drowning just as the girls were flying over, one's head resting on her sister's shoulder, Spotify on full blast, a current, a plunging rhythm, .

and what song did the boy hear as he was going under? The chatter of an American bird? The frantic song of his mother's prayers? Or only the rushing of water?

The girls disembark. Their baggage is rolled around and left at their feet. The boy's body is dragged from the river. He will be one less thing his mother carries home, after they send her back at the border.

It's true that money offsets the violence our bodies face. In water, in a world where two girls dip their painted toes into a foreign beach scape, and a boy in the other direction is left to swallow the ripples from our lines until silence.

GUILTY PLEASURE

Neighbor boy spit in my eye last June. Where the old lady grows calla lilies in white domes for Easter

and funerals. We live here. Nicest trailer, double wide. Back porch deck swing for July nights. Glass

diamond window on the front door. Nextdoor, it's cinder blocks. No trailer to unhitch or to hitch. On

my favorite day I stand sweat cold, cutting across dew crusted grass barefoot, see the smoke pillars, feel

heat on my freckled cheeks. Watch the only house on Ellen Street burn. I am not afraid. Men cutting circles

in the roof. At my feet, neighbor boy is weeping, I love him so. In the tall grass he needs me. I am just a child. My god

is chaos. I try to imagine how clean it must feel. To be nothing at all.

I SPENT SIXTEEN SOUL WINNING IN JUNEAU

At Government Hill the sky stayed light until the day was new. Just once, he held me still against his chest as sleep, a fleeting thing, left my eyes a red and static haze. 1 a.m.—Denali

nosing through the fog. I felt my own for the first time. In the absent rise and fall of day, the constant sun made hollow time we slipped into like glacial flows beneath thin ice. I was nothing more than

my mother's only girl back then, on a mission to spread the Good Lord's gospel. He became my first chance to choose for myself. I'm thinking of him now, in a city where I broke my own belief.

Brandon, with his air-force dreams and his bad eyes, called me just before the plane took off at the end of June. His crying seeped out of my phone low and broken from my window seat view of Alyeska fading.

I did not want to be loved by him, but wanting love still, I listened. There was no haloed glow to it, my first soul saved. Just the cries of a grown man, a hissing sound cigarettes make when snuffed out into pale-grey snow.

Paula M. Rodriguez

LUVIAN

I see many different colors in the rain.

There is the fine rain of spring mornings, rays of sun escaping wandering clouds that lighten up the streets as if paved in gold.

There is the winter rain, colorless mud that merges sunset and dawn, confusing the senses in its litany of gray.

That is the rain that transports me to the past lives nearly gone.

The same rain that weighted down the wool of my schoolgirl skirt, and damped unending hours among yellowed school corridors. The rain that soaked the land of my ancestors fading in the late evening fire while, outside, the storm was still raging. That is the lightning rain that whispers like an old song and brings a promise of eternity, for it will always be there, this rain that soaked my soul before I was born, after I am gone. Paula M. Rodriguez

GIRA, MONDO, GIRA!

Carnival is the time of burned chocolate, spells, and masked Harlequin roaming the crossroads

in his happy gait of red and gold, sometimes skipping and turning, sometimes sleek as a cat.

He, who holds the seven keys of destiny is the luck of the gambler down on his last cent.

He is the rose in the smile of the child selling his wares in the street market.

He is the carriage of the old man in his last journey to meet his loved ones.

And so does the world continue to spin over lanes and streets, roads and alleys.

Allen Kenneth Schaidle

POUR MILK OVER MY BODY

two white doves over Ida County South Dakotan winds a dustin rocking me to sleep, like a boat in the Brooklyn navy yard

more affordable than therapy and more meaningful than local lore

lightning strikes making me unclean

if I catch fire pour milk over my body

you might hear me yell with thunder, but only if your window is open or there's loose casing around the porch door

I'm the prairie lightning passing through your house exploding your windows blowing the door off the hinges leaving you naked

ROAD TRIP HOME

One night in Georgia I watched the stars pass above the pines as my dad drove us home from Athens and a visit with Aunt Stelle her hugs and cornbread, chocolate pudding in her white kitchen, its wide window the sun on the checkered floors so much green around the modest house the tire swing calling, where I sang out loud and heard the birds join in

and wondered if I'd be happier in the country like this, where it's slow—where it's simple but this mind was with me then with its yearnings for bustling city streets—full of boutiques and coffee houses theaters and museums, eclectic tastes and innovation—

And so tonight I watch the faint night sky above the street lights along the sides of Highway 101—tail lights reddening with caution signaling uncertainty and whether or not the driver has chosen the right lane to get home.

Ceci Webb

LINES WRITTEN IN EARLY SPRING (VAR.)

Supine and sleeptossed, I watch the trees tremble as the wind's warmth-parched song joins my aching thoughts as they arc through this fluttering bounty. Something in me reaches

out, scratching toward the living branches bowing down to meet me—but that has been lost to us. We did it to ourselves. Hundreds of years and hundreds of self-inflicted walls later, to reconcile

is impossible. To simply exist is out of the question. I can imagine the hushed redbuds, their simple pleasure in spring emerging—I can guess the ineffable musings of bird-play in the leaf-strewn sky.

We did it to ourselves. Somewhere, along our bloodied way, our powerflushed fingers gouged out that last shrapnel thrumming with nature's ill-laid devotion, condemning man to sovereignty.

Lauren Peat

CROSSING NEW MEXICO AS HECATE

I become suspicious of my attachments.

Friends turn thirty and clip into vows tighter than a seatbelt's tongue—

I saw it coming. I willed something different.

But there are evenings like these when I too forget

to protect the future, wide and brittle as a windshield,

having suddenly pledged every part of my life

to one cliff face, pink with sun, gas station nestled

in its neck, a dim bulb fizzing on. Then I remember.

Then I leave each behind along the highway's blue ribbon.

For to see the road signs grow larger. For to disobey them.

> In Greek mythology, Hecate (heh·kuh·tee) is the goddess of magic, crossroads, entranceways, and moonlight

FREIGHT TRAIN

The 1:52 train sustains a C major chord. The blinds resolve the streetlight into a rhombus on the wall. I stumble to the piano to affirm the train's cry and find that mine has too much purpose in it.

We press our mouths up against the world like this, patterning accident, odd scraps of silk the piano's pedal is cold. I rehearse having no purpose inside night's cargo of shadow.

COOKING CHERRIES

Cook me some cherries, You say in a wavery voice, Your favorite I remember when I was four And befriended the old couple next door Every cookie baked and offered to me, I had to run home to share with you. Here we are at the end, Mama, Me stirring cherries Like the ones that used to go in the Lattice pies you made for me pies your mother made for you, pack mule peddler delivered filling I know your stories

How did we come to be This aged pair You nearing one hundred And me, Remembering the thick of love That I didn't know I was in

Don't go, don't go

Ode to Food Storage

In our laundry room are jars and jars of canned apricots, peaches, bing cherries. My mother has cooked them to pale mush, placed them on shelves, and now we wait for the world to end.

One day, our best friends will starve as my parents, sister and I crouch around a candle, scooping the swollen fruit into our mouths, gulping lukewarm juice and pulpy threads that broke loose over the years.

The wheat my mother ground into beige powder we'll eat like sugar, licking our fingers to dip and coat them with wheat sawdust. Our backs to the old washer and dryer, we'll reminisce of times we predicted this day:

when a hurricane barreled through. When my school eliminated morning prayer. When our town began selling beer on Sundays. We'll consider our neighbors may be in flames—until my father hums *How Great Thou Art* then we'll sing and feel better.

I haven't mentioned the tap water in large soda bottles lining the low shelves. It's for someday washing our juice-sticky hands, brushing our teeth. Stored so long in green plastic, it will taste like rubber erasers.

I like to kneel and stare into the rows of water. My palm looks bigger the more bottle layers I peer at it through. Looming hand, looming catastrophe, tears; my mother puts a lid on it all.

Christopher Ankney

INTERSTITIAL SPACES

Your body like a granite countertop wiped clean, its smoothness belies durability, its coolness shocks

the fingers' paddings. I am washing peppers and counting garlic cloves when you say you miss the smell

of things, even the urinated back streets of Chicago, the dumpsters dank heat from leftover dough and sauce.

We've learned new words for damage and faint hope: anosmia, stellate ganglion block. I tell you about an article

on smell therapy, careful to preface the author concludes nothing, instead of confessing, I was thinking of the moment I knew

I first loved you: you crossed the finish line, your body reeking of ammonia and silt, the clay our bodies were shaped

from. From. To. A simple word choice determines the memory's presence. Your team held each other's shoulders,

conference champions. The sweat, rank, body after body pushing out what wasn't wanted from the space

between your own cells. Later, I get home from a shakeout four-miler, drenched by humidity and sun, pull off my tank,

crumple it up like a towel as an offering to you, a plea—*Recall this*—you try with a tense grin to bring it all back

through the memories we attach to things.

Aaron Caycedo-Kimura

IN THE WAKE

After three months in my childhood room, separate twin beds, Luisa and I move into my parents' room. Into their bed.

The one Mom died in last week. The one they slept in forty-seven years—content, angry, sometimes indifferent.

Four years ago I took it apart, made way for the hospital bed I ordered for Dad. I should've let him die in his own.

Luisa and I stare at the ceiling. Around us, their mahogany dressers, Singer sewing machine, baby picture of Mari above the TV.

Just as my parents must have done countless times, we wonder about our next steps: stay in their house, make it our home

or move back to Connecticut, find our own way. I feel the fullness of the room with lights out. Window slid open, faint summer breeze,

Seth Thomas clock with hands that glow mint green in the dark. They left their bodies right where ours fill the space. Ellery Beck

$P {\sf LACES} \ I' {\sf M} \ {\sf SEARCHING} \ {\sf FOR}$

my body. The collection of bugs, built up over the last months, resting unpinned. In my partner as they tell me

hushed I'm *still the same person*. In the skin wrapped around me, saran-stuck, unable to shed off

fast enough. The clementine, dismantled in the shrubs, rind spread throughout the yard. In my scalp, the first time

seeing sun, how quickly the roots try to take my body back, to grow. That same body, for anything left to forage. Bruce Robinson

LUNAR

Yet the moon, the way it seems to chase us, mirage that never makes it or a song, it's on the radio miles of quiet country

soft phrases foundered, have my word. Tonight rising over the risen moon and by its light my grandmother swearing herself to sleep I think the moon nothing but a flare

that has lonely startled us; dreams only go so far - so fur, so feather, her flesh her kin scent cooler weather.

Anthony DiMatteo

LATE PASSAGE

We were in a strange country. We searched our new rooms for a view and found the source of the silence: down the block seas of purple wreckage. It was that time late in the afternoon.

We were in a place we'd never heard of. As we made the rooftop again, crowds of angry young men dressed in the same clothes came towards us like a wave of muddy river drowning and fracturing everything.

We went in search of guns hidden beneath the boards. That is when my dead father advised we should flee in a car, the 1950's Oldsmobile parked outside with enormous fins yellowed from the photo he was in.

It was that time late in the same night after we had fled away deeper into this nation with no name. I asked my father hanging on for life inside my dreams if he had ever heard of such a silence. He had.

Hari Parisi

IN SIGHT OF THE PACIFIC

Walking the curved path, a pair of small does, a two-point buck with amber antlers, look up from nibbling seed laid out by a neighbor. Gray shingled houses with gray roofs, white trim,

rust slurred stains. Red doors, blue doors, turquoise and purple. Shore pines huddle together, finger-long cones tucked in spiny branches. The waft of fish, of all things fishy, salty, swept from

the sea. We walk as if we are going nowhere, talk about nothing much, would prefer, I think, to keep going until we must sit from the ache in our feet pushing through sand, eyes strained

from the glint on the waves. Breakfast is waiting. The others are waiting. Activities laid out for the day. In the distance, a child screeches in delight. An orange kite swirls in the wind.

BUCK MOON

You dream about pulling a startled man from a quiet room, and wake to thunder, the stuttered light of a summer storm. Buck moon, July.

The things we throw off in the wake of turning the churning water, the head toss, the startled horse. Mid-stream and clinging to its shaking, muddy flanks. What thanks? To see it through. What fellow traveler? It's too late to save your father. How does the strap feel, under your hand? Reined in, or loosed?

It's time to go now. The storm is swinging in from off the coast. In this moonlit room, the gentle ghost of your mother's long-lost pony whickers. Appaloosa, speckled as the moon's bright hide. You can decide what happens now. You can unclench your jaw, that tired bit. Unhitch your tethered story.

Her hair, you could have cut it. Again, the lightning flickers. The sluice of rain. The dream will be there in the morning, waiting. Shake it off again.

Jeff Schiff

THEY RELUCTANT WARDS OF OSHA

harvest sandstone veined with feldspar coax dolomite schist agate

chert and granite exhale on the backside of choreographed ammonium nitrate

and diesel fuel blasts manage diamond saws and block tilters the region barrow-pitted

honeycombed with excavation lakes such exquisite utility in what remains

a thousand thousand years after the fact cooled magma compacted sediment

derelict quarries where local teens can perfect dawdle and shirk bellyflop into the narrow wake of copperbelly

and yellow-striped northern ribbon snakes or footdangle from any pit's iffy edge

CONTRIBUTORS NOTES

JEFF WILLIAM ACOSTA is an Ilokano and a poet from Salcedo, Ilocos Sur. He is a co-winner of the Sahaya: Timpalak Pampanitikan (STP) 2021 of UP Sentro ng Wikang Filipino-Diliman, a 2022 Foley Poetry Contest finalist, and a 2021 Jack Grapes Poetry semifinalist. His poems have been published or are forthcoming in *Boston Review, Poetry Wales, Kritika Kultura, Tomás Journal, The Margins, The Worcester Review,* 聲韻詩刊 *Voice & Verse Poetry Magazine, Philippines Graphic* and elsewhere.

EMILY ADAMS-AUCOIN is a poet from Upstate New York who now writes from South Louisiana. Her poetry has been published in various anthologies, as well as in Electric Literature's *The Commuter*, the *Rappahannock Review*, *Split Rock Review*, *Meridian*, and *Colorado Review*, among other publications.

CHRISTOPHER ANKNEY's first collection, Hearsay, won the 2014 Jean Feldman Prize at Washington Writers' Publishing House and was a finalist for the 2015 Ohioana Book Award for Poetry. His poems have appeared in *Boston Review, Gulf Coast, Hunger Mountain, Prairie Schooner*, and more. Poems are forthcoming in *Cimarron Review*, Electric Literature's *The Commuter*, and *Cumberland River Review*. His work can be found at www.christopherankney.com.

TOHM BAKELAS is a social worker in a psychiatric hospital. He was born in New Jersey, resides there, and will die there. He is the author of 21 chapbooks and several collections of poetry, including *The Ants Crawl In Circles* (Whiskey City Press, 2022). He runs Between Shadows Press.

ELLERY BECK is a graduate of Salisbury University, with a degree in English and a concentration in creative writing. They are a nonbinary autistic artist based in Maryland and have poems published or forthcoming in *Passages North, Atlanta Review, Zone3, Sugar House Review, Fugue* and elsewhere. Beck also publishes work in other genres, including photography, flash prose and comics and is one of the editors of *Beaver Mag*, as well as the Founding Interview Editor for *The Shore Poetry* and a reader for *Poet Lore*.

ACE BOGGESS is author of six books of poetry, including *Escape Envy* (Brick Road Poetry Press, 2021), *I Have Lost the Art of Dreaming It So*, and *The Prisoners*. His writing has appeared in *Michigan Quarterly Review*, *Notre Dame Review*, *Harvard Review*, *Mid-American Review*, and other journals. An ex-con, he lives in Charleston, West Virginia, where he writes and tries to stay out of trouble. His seventh book, *Tell Us How to Live*, is forthcoming in 2024 from Fernwood Press.

ROSA CASTELLANO is a poet and teacher living in Richmond, VA. In 2021, she was a finalist for Cave Canem's Starshine and Clay Fellowship and her work can be found or is forth coming from *RHINO Poetry*, *The Southampton Review*, *Nimrod and Passages North* among others. She has an MFA from VCU and her work has been supported by the Visual Arts Center of Virginia and *Tin House*.

AARON CAYCEDO-KIMURA is the author of *Common Grace* (Beacon Press, 2022) and *Ubasute* (Slapering Hol Press, 2021). His honors include a MacDowell Fellowship, a Robert Pinsky Global Fellowship in Poetry, a St. Botolph Club Foundation Emerging Artist Award in Literature, and nominations for the Pushcart Prize, Best of the Net, and Best New Poets anthologies. His work has appeared or is forthcoming in *Beloit Poetry Journal, Plume Poetry, Poetry Daily, RHINO, Pirene's Fountain*, and elsewhere.

HOLLY CIAN holds a B.A. in creative writing from the College of Charleston and an M.A. in literature from Western Carolina University. Her poems have been published in *Pinesong, the Great Smokies Review, the Mountain Xpress, Rougarou, North Dakota Quarterly, The Lindenwood Review,* and in the anthology *Witness: Appalachia to Hatteras.* She lives in Asheville, N.C.

MARISA P. CLARK is a queer writer who grew up on the Mississippi Gulf Coast and came out in Atlanta. Her prose and poetry appear in *Shenandoah, Cream City Review, Nimrod, Epiphany, Foglifter, Prairie Fire, Rust + Moth, Sundog Lit, Texas Review,* and elsewhere. *Best American Essays 2011* recognized her creative nonfiction among its Notable Essays. She lives in New Mexico with three parrots, two dogs, and whatever wildlife and strays chance to visit.

JESSICA CONLEY teaches at The Steward School in Richmond, Virginia. She holds a BA in English, an MA in Secondary English Education, and an MFA in Poetry from Virginia Commonwealth University. She has been published in literary magazines such as *The Gordian Review, Glassworks Magazine, Common Ground Review,* and *2River*.

MEREDITH MACLEOD DAVIDSON is a poet and writer from Virginia. A graduate of Clemson University with a degree in English, her work has been published in *The Bookends Review, Eastern Iowa Review, Red Ogre Review,* and elsewhere. Meredith serves as senior editor for *Arboreal Literary Magazine,* a staff reader in fiction for *The Maine Review,* a contributing editor in poetry for *Barren Magazine,* and as co-editor of *From Glasgow to Saturn,* the literary journal at the University of Glasgow, where she is currently pursuing an MLitt in Creative Writing.

RC DEWINTER's poetry is widely anthologized, notably in *New York City Haiku* (NY Times, 2/2017), *easing the edges: a collection of everyday miracles*, (Patrick Heath Public Library of Boerne, 11/2021) The Connecticut *Shakespeare Festival Anthology* (River Bend Bookshop Press, 12/2021), in print: 2River, Event, Gargoyle Magazine, the minnesota review, Night Picnic Journal, Plainsongs, Prairie Schooner, Southword, The Ogham Stone, Poetry *South, Twelve Mile Review, Variant Literature, York Literary Review* among many others and appears in numerous online literary journals.

BARBARA WESTWOOD DIEHL is senior editor of *The Baltimore Review*. Her fiction and poetry appear in a variety of journals, including *Quiddity*, *Potomac Review* (Best of the 50), *SmokeLong Quarterly*, *Gargoyle*, *Superstition Review*, *Thrush Poetry Journal*, *Atticus Review*, *The MacGuffin*, *The Shore*, *The Journal of Compressed Creative Arts*, *Raleigh Review*, *Ponder*, *Fractured Lit*, *South Florida Poetry Journal*, *Five South*, *Allium*, and *Free State Review*. **ANTHONY DIMATTEO's** third collection Secret Offices is just out. Why secret? One can't take credit for an office dedicated to the pursuit of beauty and fairness as a poet must be. No one knows what one is doing in such a search, a prerequisite for it. His previous collection *In Defense of Puppets* explored the way we imagine things when we speak for others or they for us. A recent chapbook *Fishing for Family* charted the experience of language from infancy to senescence.

WREN DONOVAN'S poetry appears or is upcoming in *Emerge Literary Journal, Anti-Heroin Chic, Harpy Hybrid Review, The Dillydoun Review, Moist Poetry*, and elsewhere in print and online. She studied folklore, anthropology, literature, and creative writing at UNC-Chapel Hill and University of Southern Mississippi. Wren also reads Tarot, practices dance meditation, and talks to cats. She lives in Tennessee and lurks on twitter @WrenDonovan.

MITZI DORTON is author of the book, *Chief Corn Tassel*, Finishing Line Press. Her work is in *Rattle, Sheila-Na-Gig/Women of Appalachia Project, The Dead Mule School of Southern Literature, Esoterica, Rubbertop Review* and many others.

FASASI ABDULROSHEED OLADIPUPO is a Nigerian poet and a Veterinary Medical Student whose first love is art making, he works are forthcoming in *Ambit*, *Obsidian; Literature and Art in the African Diaspora, Oakland Arts Review* and more.

HALLIE FOGARTY is a writer, visual artist, and poet from Kentucky whose work explores memory, the body, and lesbian identity. She is currently a first year MFA poetry student at Miami University. Her work has been published in *Vox Viola Literary Mag, Juven Press*, and others.

MARIAH M. FRIEND is a poet, novelist, and occasional guest writer for Workaway. A former I.C.U. nurse and a world traveler, her writing is influenced by her travels, Midwestern childhood, and the twin vocabularies of medicine and healing. Cycles of life shape her work—the paradox of grieving while celebrating new life is a recurrent theme in Friend's writing. This is her first publication in a literary magazine.

MADS GORDON is a poet from rural South Georgia currently studying Creative Writing and Religion at Emory University in Atlanta. Their first published poems recently appeared in *Screen Door Review*.

Poet and Printmaker, TAMMY GREENWOOD, discovered poetry as a young girl surrounded by the rich culture and landscape of Louisiana. Since graduating from California State University, San Bernardino, she continues her work on her upcoming book of poems. Her poetry appears in or is forthcoming in *Rust & Moth, Orange Blossom Review, Under the Radar, California Quarterly, Journal of Undiscovered Poets*, and *Tomorrow and Tomorrow*.

LUNA REY HALL is a trans non-binary writer. they are the author of four books including "the patient routine." their poems have appeared in *The Florida Review, The Rumpus*, and *Raleigh Review*, among others.

PATRICIA L. HAMILTON is a Professor of English in Jackson, Tennessee, and is the author of *The Distance to Nightfall*. She won the Rash Award in Poetry in

2015 and 2017 and has received three Pushcart nominations. Her most recent work has appeared in *Slant, The Ekphrastic Review, Plainsongs, The Poetry Porch,* and *Prime Number Magazine.*

JEFF HARDIN is the author of seven collections of poetry, most recently *Watermark, A Clearing Space in the Middle of Being*, and *No Other Kind of World*. His work has been honored with the Nicholas Roerich Prize, the Donald Justice Prize, and the X. J. Kennedy Prize. Recent and forthcoming poems appear in the *Southern Review, Hudson Review, Poetry Northwest, Braided Way, Zone 3, Louisville Review*, and many others. He lives and teaches in TN.

VAUGHN HAYES is a poet and essayist in the midst of his MFA at Western Kentucky University and an internship with Amherst's The Common. His words have been published in *The Ponder Review, Thimble Magazine*, and many others.

LINDA HUGHES has a BA in advertising and Journalism. She worked as a photo Journalist at the *Sun Herald* in Florida, a Pulitzer Prize winning new publication. Her poetry has been published in *Evening Street Review*, *OVS*, *The Critical Pass Review*, *Mangrove Review*, *The Door is a Jar*, *Humana Obsura, the American Journal of Nursing's Art of Nursing, Halcyon Days, Plainsongs* and others. She is from Oklahoma and now lives in Florida.

SABRINA ITO lives in Honolulu, where she works as a Diploma Language & Literature teacher at an IB school. Sabrina's poems have appeared in *Bamboo Ridge, Clarion Magazine, Slipstream Press, Coachella Review, West Trade Review,* and *Blazevox,* among others. Sabrina is also the author of poetry chapbook, *Messages from Salt Water* (Finishing Line Press, 2019).

BRIAN L. JACOBS resides with his husband in Los Angeles, California, has been teaching English thirty one years and is working on his PhD. Brian was the assistant to Poet Allen Ginsberg while earning his MFA. During that time he walked half way around the world while on a peace pilgrimage. Brian is also a three time Fulbright Scholar, an NEH grant recipient, A Senior Fellow for Earthwatch and a poet. Brian has been published in several publications and is the editor of Tofu Ink Arts Press.

DEBRA KAUFMAN is the author of the poetry collections *God Shattered*, *Delicate Thefts, The Next Moment*, and *A Certain Light*, as well as three chapbooks, many monologues and short plays, and five full-length plays. A Midwest native, she's lived in North Carolina for forty years.

WHITNEY KOO is the founder and Editor-in-chief of Gasher Press. She holds a Ph.D. in English-Creative Writing from Oklahoma State University. Her work has appeared in journals such as *Colorado Review, Jet Fuel Review, American Literary Review, Heavy Feather Review, Bayou Review,* and others. Originally from Arizona, Whitney currently resides in Texas with her husband, Bonhak, and their cat, Bunny. Find her at www.whitneykoo.com

Originally from Auburn, Alabama, MARIANNE KUNKEL is the author of *Hillary, Made Up* (Stephen F. Austin State University Press) and The *Laughing Game* (Finishing Line Press), as well as poems that have appeared

in *The Missouri Review, The Notre Dame Review, Hayden's Ferry Review, Rattle,* and elsewhere. She is an Assistant Professor of English at Johnson County Community College in the Kansas City, Missouri, area, and she is the Co-editor-in-chief of *Kansas City Voices* and *Kansas City Voices Youth.*

JANE ROSENBERG LAFORGE writes poetry, fiction, and occasional essays from her home in New York. She has published four full-length collections of poetry, including *My Aunt's Abortion*, her most recent, from BlazeVOX [books] in 2023. She also is the author of four chapbooks of poetry, a memoir, and two novels. Last year her poetry was nominated for the Pushcart Prize and the Best of the Net compilation; more work is forthcoming in *The Healing Muse* and *Evening Street Review*.

NATAN LAST works in immigration advocacy and policy. His writing has appeared in *Narrative, The Atlantic, Los Angeles Review of Books,* and elsewhere. He also writes crossword puzzles for The New Yorker and The New York Times. He is currently writing a non-fiction book about crosswords, entitled *The Electric Grid,* for Pantheon Books. His website is natanlast.com and he tweets at @natanlast.

DENTON LOVING is the author of the poetry collection *Crimes Against Birds* (Main Street Rag, 2015) and editor of *Seeking Its Own Level*, an anthology of writings about water (MotesBooks, 2014).

COURT LUDWICK is a writer, teacher, and doctoral candidate in Literature and Creative Writing at USD. Her debut hybrid collection *These Strange Bodies* (ELJ Editions) is forthcoming in 2024, and her words have appeared or are forthcoming in *Jet Fuel Review, Oxford Magazine, Cheat River Review, Necessary Fiction, Red Noise Collective, Watershed Review, Sweet Tooth, Eclectica Magazine*, and elsewhere. You can connect with Court on Instagram and Twitter @courtludwick, and on www.courtlud.com

ANNALISE MABE is a writer from Tampa, Florida. She completed her MFA at the University of South Florida where she works and writes nonfiction, poetry, and comics. Her work has appeared in *Brevity, New Delta Review, The Offing, The Rumpus, Booth, Word Riot, Hobart*, and was nominated by *The Boiler* for a 2016 Pushcart Prize. She was a finalist for the december Curt Johnson Prose Award judged by Eula Biss and currently writes freelance for outlets like *The Guardian, SELF*, and more.

KAECEY MCCORMICK is a writer and visual artist in the San Francisco Bay Area. Her poetry and prose have found homes or is forthcoming in different literary journals, including *Clockhouse, One Sentence Poems*, and *ONE ART* as well as her chapbooks *Sleeping with Demons* (Finishing Line Press, 2023) and *Pixelated Tears* (Prolific Press, 2018). When she is not writing, you can find her climbing a mountain, painting, or reading a book.

ANDREA MENENDEZ is a high school English and creative writing teacher. Her work is born from the creators and agitators of Southern Appalachia. She is a graduate of Bread Loaf School of English and currently lives in Knoxville, TN with her girlfriend and two cats.

MATTHEW MERSON is a high school science teacher in the low country South Carolina. His work can be found or forthcoming in *Apocalypse Confidential* and *The Basilisk Tree*.

JOHN MOESSNER is the author of *Harmonia* (Stephen F. Austin State University Press, 2023). He received his MFA from the University of Missouri-Kansas City. His work has appeared in *New Letters, North American Review,* and *Poet Lore.* www.johnmoessnerpoetry.com

THERESA MONTEIRO lives in New Hampshire with her husband and six children. She is a former teacher and holds an MFA from the University of New Hampshire. She has had poems published in various journals including *The American Journal of Poetry, On the Seawall, River Heron Review, Pittsburgh Poetry Journal, Presence, Cutleaf Journal, and The Banyan Review.* Her work has been nominated for a Pushcart Prize and her first full-length manuscript, Under This Roof, is forthcoming from Fernwood Press.

ARIANA MOULTON is a 3rd grade teacher and writer living in Chicago with her two daughters and husband. She grew up in Cornwall, Vermont, attended Bates College and has her master's from Columbia College. She is inspired by nature, politics, Chicago, and the people and landscapes of Vermont. Her writing appears in *Verity LA*, *Poet's Choice, Lucky Jefferson, Poem Village,* and *What Rough Beast* Covid 19 Edition. *Tracing the Curve* is her first collection, Atmosphere Press.

PAULA REED NANCARROW is a Pushcart Prize- and Best of the Net- nominee, and past winner of the Sixfold Poetry Prize. Recent poems have appeared in *Floyd County Moonshine, Plainsongs*, and *The Southern Review*. Find her at paulareednancarrow.com.

JENNIFER RAHA NEWHOUSE is a poet and writing professor from Virginia. Her chapbook, *Labyrinth*, was published by Longleaf Press. A portfolio of her work can be found at jennifernewhouse.com.

JOSH NICOLAISEN lives in New Hampshire with his wife, Sara, and their daughters, Grace and Azalea. He is a professional gardener and former high school teacher. He holds an MFA from Randolph College. Josh is a Pushcart Prize nominee whose work has recently appeared or is forthcoming in *Colorado Review, Clockhouse, So It Goes, Appalachian Review,* and elsewhere. Find him at www.oldmangardening.com/poetry

JOHN A. NIEVES (a poet of Puerto Rican/Taino and Ashkenazi descent) has poems forthcoming or recently published in journals such as: *American Poetry Review, Copper Nickel, American Literary Review, Southern Review,* and *North American Review.* His first book, *Curio,* won the Elixir Press Annual Poetry Award Judge's Prize. He is an Associate Professor of English at Salisbury University and an Editor of *The Shore Poetry.*

HARI B PARISI's (formerly Hari Bhajan Khalsa) poems have been published in numerous journals, most recently in *Inklet, Burningword Literary Journal* and *The Closed Eye Open*. She is the author of three volumes of poetry, most recently, *She Speaks to the Birds at Night While They Sleep*, winner of the 2020 Tebot Bach Clockwise Chapbook Contest. She lives in Los Angeles with her husband.

LAUREN PEAT's poems and translations have appeared in journals such as *Asymptote, No Tokens,* and *World Literature Today*; her work is also featured in the repertoire of acclaimed vocal ensembles across Canada. Translation Editor for the online poetry magazine *Volume*, she teaches philosophy at a public Francophone school. She lives in Vancouver and at laurenpeatwrites.com.

JON PARRISH PEEDE is the former Chairman of the National Endowment for the Humanities. His previous positions include Publisher of the *Virginia Quarterly Review* at the University of Virginia and Literature Grants Director at the National Endowment for the Arts. He is currently the Visiting Writer in Residence at Mississippi Valley State University.

NATALIE PELINO is an emerging writer with one eye searching the mythical past and the other reimagining the future. Her poetry and projects tend the fertile landscape of womanhood and ritual, doubt and belief. She earned an MA in Liberal Studies from the University of North Carolina-Wilmington and an MFA in Writing from Pacific University. She lives on a plateau in the Blue Ridge Mountains of North Carolina.

KATE POLAK is an artist, writer, and teacher. Her work has recently appeared in *Plainsongs, McSweeney's, So to Speak, Barzakh, The Closed Eye Open,* and elsewhere. She lives in south Florida and aspires to a swamp hermitage.

JESSA QUEYROUZE was born in New Orleans, Louisiana. She received a degree in English and Creative Writing from Louisiana State University. She was a recent finalist for the Beullah Rose Poetry Prize, and her poem "Teeth" will appear in the upcoming 30th issue of *Smartish Pace*.

Recent work by **BRUCE ROBINSON** appears or is forthcoming in *Tar River Poetry, Spoon River, Rattle, Mantis, Two Hawks Quarterly, Peregrine, Tipton Poetry Journal, North Dakota Quarterly, The Poetry Box,* and *Aji*. He divides his time uneasily between several four-footed and sure-footed animals.

PAULA M. RODRIGUEZ is an educator in greater Los Angeles. Her first poem published in the United States appeared in 2006 in *The Blind Man's Rainbow*. Since then, she has earned prizes in the Urban Ocean poetry contest, she has published her work in four anthologies, her poems have been published by Scintilla Press, *New Note, Humble Pie Literary Magazine, Mercury Retrograde*, and *Bacopa Review* and her novella "Angelus" has appeared in *The Write Launch*. More recently, her first book of haiku, *The Joy of Seasons*. *A Treasure of Haiku* has been published by Poet's Choice.

MICHAEL ROMARY was a university librarian at Indiana University, The Ohio State University and the University of Maryland. He did two years of graduate study at St. Cloud State (University) in English where he wrote a creative thesis (undefended). He has been published in *River* (online site for Sandy River Review); *Atlanta Review, The Laurel Review, Spillway,* and the *Main Street Rag.*

AMANDA ROTH (she/her) is a mother, writer, and folklorist living in Central Texas. Her work can be found in *Portland Review, Hayden's Ferry Review, Literary Mama, Jet Fuel Review, Five Minutes*, and elsewhere. Follow her at https://msha.ke/amandarothpoetry

ESTHER SADOFF is a teacher and writer from Columbus, Ohio. Her poems have been featured or are forthcoming in *Little Patuxent Review, Jet Fuel Review, Cathexis Poetry Northwest, Pidgeonholes, Santa Clara Review, South Florida Poetry Journal,* among others. Her debut chapbook, *Some Wild Woman*, is forthcoming from Finishing Line Press.

CECILIA SAVALA is originally from the Midwest but is currently writing from the desert of Phoenix, AZ where she is the poetry editor of *Hayden's Ferry Review*. Her work can be found or is forthcoming in the *Mochila Review, Boiler*, and the *Under Review*, among elsewhere. Follow her at @cecsav on Instagram.

ALLEN KENNETH SCHAIDLE'S poems do not attempt to impose his own opinions of time and space onto readers, but intentionally focuses on striking an emotion and retreating. His poems recount chance-encounters with America's other road warriors and his deep-dive in America's rural sceneries. Schaidle's poems are quick text messages and voice notes from a modern-day nomad. In providing little context, Schaidle's poems allow readers to build their own narratives, rewarding conclusions, and their portrait of America.

Jeff Schiff is the author of *They: A Letter to America, That hum to go by, Mixed Diction, Burro Heart, The Rats of Patzcuaro, The Homily of Infinitude,* and *Anywhere in this Country.* Hundreds of his pieces have appeared in more than a hundred and thirty publications worldwide, including *The Alembic, Bellingham Review, Cincinnati Review, Grand Street, Ohio Review, Carolina Review, Chicago Review, Hawaii Review, Southern Humanities Review, River City, Indiana Review, Willow Springs,* and *Southwest Review.* He has been a member of the English and Creative Writing department of Columbia College Chicago since 1987.

CLAIRE SCOTT is an award winning poet who has received multiple Pushcart Prize nominations. Her work has appeared in the Atlanta Review, Bellevue Literary Review, New Ohio Review and Healing Muse among others. Claire is the author of Waiting to be Called and Until I Couldn't. She is the co-author of Unfolding in Light: A Sisters' Journey in Photography and Poetry.

MARK SMITH-SOTO'S books include *Our Lives Are Rivers* (University Press of Florida, 2003), *Any Second Now* (Main Street Rag Publishing Co., 2006) and *Time Pieces* (Main Street Rag Publishing Co., 2015). *Fever Season: Selected Poetry of Ana Istarú* (2010) and *Berkeley Prelude: A Lyrical Memoir* (2013) were published by Unicorn Press. Awarded a 2005 NEA Fellowship in Creative Writing, he's had work in Kenyon Review, Literary Review, Nimrod, Poetry East, Rattle, The Sun, etc.

LIAM STRONG (they/them) is a queer neurodivergent cottagecore straight edge punk writer who has earned their BA in Writing from University of Wisconsin-Superior. You can find their poetry and essays in *Impossible* *Archetype* and *Emerald City*, among many others. They are most likely gardening somewhere in Northern Michigan.

KATHRVN THURBER-SMITH is a clinical supervisor at Seattle Children's Hospital, mindfulness facilitator for parents of children with health issues, and a writer. Raised bi-coastally in Washington DC and Olympia, WA, she earned her BA from Grinnell College, where she was granted the Selden Whitcomb Poetry Award, and an MSW from KU-Lawrence. Her work appears in *Adanna, Suisun Review*, and in Susan Landgraf's book, *The Inspired Poet*. Kathryn lives on the ancestral, traditional, unceded land of the Coast Salish people, Whidbey Island.

JIM TILLEY has published three full-length collections of poetry *In Confidence*, *Cruising at Sixty to Seventy, and Lessons from Summer Camp* and a novel *Against the Wind* with Red Hen Press. His short memoir, *The Elegant Solution*, was published as a Ploughshares Solo. He has won *Sycamore Review*'s Wabash Prize for Poetry. Four of his poems have been nominated for a Pushcart Prize.

ROB VANCE is an IT professional and a former Age-Grouper triathlete. His poetry has appeared or will appear in: *Chiron Review, Cold Mountain Review, Hawai'i Pacific Review, The Hollins Critic,* and elsewhere. He tweets @ RobVance RVA

JASON GORDY WALKER was born in Brookhaven, Mississippi. Currently an MFA candidate in poetry at the University of Florida, Walker has received scholarships from The New York State Summer Writers Institute, Poetry by the Sea: A Global Conference, and The West Chester University Poetry Conference. He has published poems in *Hawai'i Pacific Review, One Art,* and *Measure: A Review of Formal Poetry*.

CECI WEBB (they/them) is an emerging poet living in Athens, Georgia. They have previously been published in *Stillpoint*, *Local Honey*, *Otherworldly Women Press*, and the *Agnes Scott 2021 Writer's Festival Contest* anthology. Their interests include cats, modern languages, and finding ways to be gentler in the world.

LYNDSEY KELLY WEINER is a graduate of Stonecoast MFA and teaches writing at Syracuse University. She blogs at haikuveg.com.

MARCUS WHALBRING'S third collection of poems *A Concert of Rivers* was published this year by Milk & Cake Press. His poems have appeared in a number of journals including *The Cortland Review* and *Spry*. He lives in Indiana with his wife and family.

ANGELICA WHITEHORNE is a writer from Buffalo, New York with published work in *Westwind Poetry, Mantis, Air/Light Magazine,* and the *Laurel Review,* among others. She is the author of the chapbook, *The World Is Ending, Say Something That Will Last* (Bottle Cap Press, 2022). Besides being a devastated poet, Angelica is a Program Assistant for the Just Buffalo Literary Center, a Marketing Content Writer for a green energy loan company, and a volunteer reader for Autumn House Press.

ELLEN JUNE WRIGHT was born in England of West Indian parents and immigrated to the United States as a child. She attended school in New Jersey and taught high-school language arts there for three decades. She has had the honor of working as a consulting teacher on the guides for three PBS poetry series: *Poetry Haven, Fooling with Words* and the *Language of Life*. Her work was most recently published in (or is forthcoming in) *Naugatuck River Review, New York Quarterly, Plume, Atlanta Review, South Florida Poetry Journal, Solstice, Tar River Poetry, Burningword Literary Journal, The Coachella Review, The Elevation Review, The Good Life Review, The South Carolina Review* and *Tulsa Review*. Her work was also selected as *The Missouri Review*'s Poem of the Week for their website and was featured in the article, "Exceptional Prose Poetry From Around the Web: June 2021" by Jose Hernandez Diaz and recently received five 2021 Pushcart Prize nominations

NANCY **R.** YANG was born in South Carolina and was raised in Georgia. She is currently studying in the MFA program at Pacific University in Oregon and earned her MA in Secondary English Education at Georgia State University. She lives in northern California with her husband, two sons, and two cavapoochons. When she is not writing poetry, she hikes the local redwood trails and teaches high school English. Her previous work has appeared in *Aura Literary Review*.

JIANQING ZHENG is the author of *The Dog Years of Reeducation* (Madville, 2023) and editor of *Conversations with Jerry W. Ward Jr* (UP of Mississippi, 2023). His poems recently appeared in *Arkansas Review, Delta Poetry Review, Mississippi Review*, and *The Southern Quarterly*.

Poetry South is published annually by the low-residency MFA program in creative writing at Mississippi University for Women, offering online workshops in poetry, fiction, creative nonfiction, drama, translation, and new media, along with literature, forms, and professional classes and two types of residencies.

www.muw.edu/mfacreativewriting

We wish to thank the College of Arts and Sciences and the Department of Languages, Literature, and Philosophy, as well as Ted Haddin, Bill Spencer, and Carolyn Elkins for their support. We also thank Jianqing Zheng for his help and advice, and for creating our first seven excellent issues. We strive to continue the legacy. Cover photograph: "Winter Trees."

www.poetrysouth.com

Twitter and Instagram: @Poetry_South; Facebook: @PoetrySouth

Visit our sister publication:

Ponder Review [PR]

A journal of fiction, flash fiction, creative nonfiction, poetry, short plays, art, and new media. *Ponder Review* seeks writing that challenges us, shifts our view, ignites our imagination, sparks conversations, and lingers with us long after our eyes leave the page.

www.ponderreview.com

@PonderReview